UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-28-2011

Brooksby v. Geico General Insurance Co Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38761

III.	Statement Of Facts
ISSUES PI	RESENTED ON APPEAL 1
STANDA	RD OF REVIEW
ARGUME	NT
I.	Legal Treatises Confirm That Brooksby Has Standing
II.	Other Jurisdictions Hold That An Injured Party Has Standing To Bring A Declaratory Judgment Action Against The Tortfeasor's Insurance Carrier
III.	The Direct Action Rule Does Not Prohibit A Declaratory Judgment Action 7
IV.	The Idaho Rules Of Civil Procedure Demonstrate That Brooksby Has Standing
V.	The Idaho Supreme Court Has Allowed Declaratory Judgment Actions By Injured Parties
VI.	Public Policy Considerations Dictate That An Injured Party Has Standing To Bring A Declaratory Judgment Action Against The Tortfeasor's Insurer
VII.	The Trial Court Erred By Dismissing Brooksby's Case Under Rule 12(b)(6) 17
CONCLUS	SION

i

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bankers Trust Co. v. Old Republic Ins. Co., 959 F.2d 677, 682 (7th Cir. 1992)
Berrios v. Jevic Transp., Inc., 2011 R.I. Super. LEXIS 97 (R.I. Super. Ct. 2011)11
Chancler v. American Hardware Mut. Ins. Co., 109 Idaho 841, 712 P.2d 542 (1985) 12-13
Christian v. Mason, 148 Idaho 149, 219 P.3d 473 (2009)2, 13
Christian v. Sizemore, 338 S.E.2d 810 (W. Va. 1989)
Community Action of Greater Indianapolis, Inc. v. Indiana Farmers Mut. Ins. Co., 708 N.E.2d 882 (Ind. Ct. App. 1999)
Dial Corp. v. Marine Office of Am. Corp., 743 N.E.2d 621 (Ill. Ct. App. 2001)
Dorchester Mut. Ins. Co. v. Legeyt, 25 Mass L. Rep. 262 (Mass. Super. Ct. 2008) 4-5
Doron Precision Sys. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 131 Idaho 680, 963 P.2d 363 (1998)
Draper v. Draper, 115 Idaho 973, 722 P.2d 180 (1989)
Eureka Fed. Savings & Loan Ass'n v. American Cas. Co., 873 F.2d 229 (9th Cir. 1989)2, 13
Gibson v. Ada County, 142 Idaho 746, 133 P.3d 1211 (2006)2
Gillingham Constr. Inc., v. Newby-Wiggins Constr. Inc., 142 Idaho 15, 20, 121 P.3d 946 (2005)
Graham v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 138 Idaho 611, 67 P.3d 90 (2003) 19-20
Harper v. Harper, 122 Idaho 535, 835 P.2d 1346 (Ct. App. 1992)
Howard v. Montgomery Mut. Ins. Co., 805 A.2d 1167 (Md. App. 2002)

Karle v. Visser, 141 Idaho 804, 118 P.3d 136 (2005)
Lewis v. Allstate Ins. Co., 730 So.2d 65 (Miss. 1998)
Martisorov v. Shenandoah Flight Servs., 64 Va. Cir. 163, 170 (Va. Cir. Ct. 2004) 11-14
Maryland Cas. Co. v. Nestle, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98053 (S.D. Miss. Sept. 17, 2010)
Maryland Cas. Co. v. Pacific Coal & Oil Co., 312 U.S. 270, 61 S.Ct. 510, 85 L.Ed. 826 (1941)
Miller v. Augusta Mut. Ins. Co., 157 Fed. Appx. 631 (4th Cir. 2005)4, 11
Monroe v. United States Fidelity & Guar. Co., 603 N.E.2d 855 (Ill. Ct. App. 1992)
Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Pedersen, 133 Idaho 135, 983 P.2d 208 (1999)13
Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Harvey, 115 Idaho 1009, 772 P.2d 216 (1989)13
National Sec. Fire & Cas. Co. v. Poskey, 828 S.W.2d 836 (Ark. 1992)5
Orthman v. Idaho Power Co., 126 Idaho 960, 895 P.2d 561 (1995)2, 19
Reagor v. Travelers Ins. Co., 415 N.E.2d 512 (Ill. 1980)
Robinson v. Cabell Huntington Hosp., 498 S.E.2d 27 (W. Va. 1997)
Sagamore Ins. v. Deming, 2008 Conn. Super. LEXIS 2050 (Conn Super Ct. Aug. 6, 2008)
Selkirk-Priest Basin Ass'n, Inc. v. State ex rel. Andrus, 127 Idaho 239, 899 P.2d 949 (1995)
Selkirk-Priest Basin Ass'n, Inc. v. State ex rel. Batt, 128 Idaho 831, 919 P.2d 1032 (1996)
State ex rel. Abraham Linc Corp. v. Bedell, 602 S.E.2d 542 (W. Va. 2004)14
Temperance Ins. Exch. v. Carver, 83 Idaho 487, 365 P.2d 824 (1961)
Unitca Mut. Ins. Co. v. Winmill Int'l, Inc., 50 F. Supp.2d 871 (N.D. Iowa 1999)

Young v. City of Ketchum, 137 Idaho 102, 44 P.3d 1157 (2002)2-3
Statutes Idaho Code § 10-1201 <i>et seq.</i>
Iowa Code § 516.1
Court Rules Rule 12, I.R.C.P 1, 2, 18-19
Rule 56, I.R.C.P
Rule 57, I.R.C.P
Secondary Authority 22 Am. Jur.2d Declaratory Judgments (2003)
46A C.J.S. Insurance (1993)
Steven Plitt et al., Couch on Insurance § 232:67 (3d ed. 2000)
Allan D. Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes: Representation of Insurance Companies andInsureds § 8:8
Lee S. Michael & Paul C. Campbell, 1993-94 Survey of New York Law: Tort Law, 45 Syracuse L. Rev. 693 (1994)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from a declaratory judgment action brought pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, Idaho Code § 10-1201 *et seq.* Brooksby filed the declaratory judgment action against her father's automobile insurer, GEICO General Insurance Company ("GEICO") to resolve a coverage dispute.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT

The trial court dismissed the case under Rule 12(b)(6) holding that Brooksby lacks standing to bring a declaratory judgment action against her father's automobile insurer.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Christina Brooksby was injured in a single-vehicle automobile collision. (R. at 4.) Christina's father, Craig Brooksby, was driving when he lost control and rolled the vehicle on Interstate 15 in Idaho Falls, Idaho. (R. at 4.) The vehicle rolled, the roof was ripped off, and Christina was ejected from the vehicle. (R. at 4.) She suffered physical injuries that required medical treatment. (R. at 4.) Christina made a claim against her father's insurance carrier, GEICO. (R. at 5.) The claim was denied on the basis that Christina was living with her father at the time of the collision. (R. at 5.) Christina brought a declaratory judgment action against GEICO to resolve the coverage issue. (R. at 5.) The case was dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) for lack of standing. (R. at 46.)

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether the court error in granting GEICO's Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6)

when it held that Christina Brooksby lacks standing to bring a declaratory judgment action against GEICO.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether a party has standing to seek declaratory relief is a question of law which the court of appeals reviews de novo." 22A Am. Jur.2d Declaratory Judgments § 21 (2003). A trial court may not refuse to assume jurisdiction when a declaratory adjudication is appropriate; "if it does enter a dismissal, it will be directed by an appellate tribunal to entertain the action." 22A Am. Jur.2d Declaratory Judgments § 16 (2003).

"Jurisdictional issues, such as standing, and the interpretation of statutory language that confers standing are questions of law over which the Supreme Court exercises free review." *Christian v. Mason*, 148 Idaho 149, 152, 219 P.3d 473, 476 (2009).

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, without affidavits or deposition testimony introduced into the record either in support or in opposition, is addressed solely to the sufficiency of the complaint. *Orthman v. Idaho Power Co.*, 126 Idaho 960, 962, 895 P.2d 561, 563 (1995). All inferences from the facts pleaded in the complaint must be drawn in favor of the party opposing the motion; and the issue presented is "whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims." *Id.* A motion to dismiss should be granted only if a party can show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Gibson v. Ada County*, 142 Idaho 746, 751, 133 P.3d 1211, 1216 (2006). On a motion to dismiss, the Court looks only at the pleadings, and all

inferences are viewed in favor of the non-moving party. Young v. City of Ketchum, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159 (2002).

ARGUMENT

This case presents for determination the question of whether Christina Brooksby has standing to bring a declaratory judgment action against her father's automobile liability insurer to determine the applicability of a so-called household exclusion clause. This is purely a question of law over which the Idaho Supreme Court reviews de novo. "The Supreme Court reviews questions of law de novo." *Karle v. Visser*, 141 Idaho 804, 806, 118 P.3d 136, 138 (2005).

Legal treatises, other jurisdictions, the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, and prior procedural practice in the Idaho Supreme Court all indicate that Brooksby does indeed have standing to maintain the declaratory judgment action.

I. LEGAL TREATISES CONFIRM THAT BROOKSBY HAS STANDING

According to American Jurisprudence Second, it is black letter law that "an injured party may bring a declaratory judgment action against the defendant's insurance carrier to determine if there is policy coverage before obtaining a judgment against defendant in the personal injury action where the defendant's insurer has denied coverage." 22A Am. Jur.2d *Declaratory Judgments* § 138 (2003).

Similarly, *Couch on Insurance* states, "An injured party may seek a declaratory judgment against a liability insurer before the insured tortfeasor's underlying liability has been determined, when the two issues are independent and separable." Steven Plitt et al., *Couch on Insurance*

§232:67, at 232-91 (3d ed. 2000). See also, e.g., Allan D. Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes: Representation of Insurance Companies & Insureds § 8:8, at 8-25 (5th ed. 2007) (stating that just as an insurer may bring a declaratory judgment action against an injured party before that party obtains a favorable judgment, conversely, "the injured party may, despite the absence of a judgment against the insured, be able to bring a declaratory judgment action against the insurance company").

II. OTHER JURISDICTIONS HOLD THAT AN INJURED PARTY HAS STANDING TO BRING A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AGAINST THE TORTFEASOR'S INSURANCE CARRIER

The issue of whether an injured party may bring a declaratory judgment action against a tortfeasor's liability insurer appears to be a matter of first impression before this Court. However, other jurisdictions that have explicitly examined this issue have held that an injured party does have standing in such declaratory judgment actions. The Superior Court of Massachusetts in analyzing the issue surveyed the law of various jurisdictions and summarized the results thusly:

Several courts that have considered whether an injured party may seek declaratory relief against another's insurer have held that an injured party's interest in the tortfeasor's insurance policy is sufficiently present or immediate, once the injury has been sustained, to allow the injured party to seek declaratory relief. E.g., *Miller v. Augusta Mut. Ins. Co.*, 157 Fed. Appx. 632, 637 n.5 (4th Cir. 2005) (unpublished) (noting that Virginia law permits an injured party to bring a declaratory judgment action against the tortfeasor's insurer before obtaining a judgment against the tortfeasor even though it may not bring a direct action against an insurer before judgment has entered); *Bankers Trust Co. v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 959 F.2d 677, 682 (7th Cir. 1992) (holding that injured party has a legally protectable interest in tortfeasor's insurance policy after injury but before judgment sufficient to allow claimant to bring an action seeking a declaration that the insurer is liable to indemnify its insured, reasoning: "Must the

victim go to the expense of prosecuting to judgment a tort suit that will be completely worthless unless the policy is declared valid?"); Eureka Fed. Savings & Loan Ass'n v. American Cas. Co., 873 F.2d 229, 231-32 (9th Cir. 1989) (to conclude that injured party does not have a sufficient immediate and real interest to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment would prevent the parties from settling the underlying action prior to a prolonged and costly trial and would undercut California's law obliging the insurer to make a good faith attempt to settle claims); Howard v. Montgomerv Mut. Ins. Co., 145 Md. App. 549, 805 A.2d 1167, 1176 (Md.App. 2002) (error to grant summary judgment dismissing declaratory judgment action on ground that tort claimant lacks standing to bring declaratory judgment action against tortfeasor's insurer); Community Action of Greater Indianapolis, Inc. v. Indiana Farmers Mut. Ins. Co., 708 N.E.2d 882, 885 (Ind.Ct.App. 1999) (injured victim has legally protectable interest in policy before reducing tort claim to judgment that supports standing to sue tortfeasor's insurer under Indiana's Declaratory Judgment Act); National Sec. Fire & Cas. Co. v. Poskey, 309 Ark. 206, 828 S.W.2d 836, 838 (Ark. 1992) (declaratory judgment action as to insurer's coverage and defense obligations is not barred by law that injured party cannot sue insurer directly before obtaining judgment). Cf. Maryland Cas. Co. v. Pacific Coal & Oil Co., 312 U.S. 270, 273, 61 S. Ct. 510, 85 L. Ed. 826 (1941) (declaratory judgment action by insurer against insured and injured third party stated a claim against injured party because insurer and injured party had "adverse legal interests, of sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment").

Dorchester Mut. Ins. Co. v. Legeyt, 25 Mass. L. Rep. 262 (Mass. Super. Ct. 2008). The Supreme

Court of West Virginia has also surveyed rulings from other jurisdictions when it was faced for

the first time the issue of whether an injured party has standing to bring a declaratory judgment

action against the tortfeasor's insurer. Christian v. Sizemore, 383 S.E.2d 810 (W. Va. 1989). It

summarized its results as follows:

Moreover, the result reached by the Supreme Court of Virginia appears to be in accord with decisions in other jurisdictions which permit an injured plaintiff to bring a declaratory judgment action against the defendant's insurance carrier to determine if there is policy coverage before obtaining a judgment against the defendant in the personal injury action where the defendant's insurer has denied coverage. Id. at 814 (citing several other jurisdictions and American Jurisprudence Second). Another court

has explained the rule thusly:

In a declaratory judgment action, an injured party has standing to establish coverage under a tortfeasor's insurance policy. This is because the injured party's rights to recover any judgment 'clearly are affected by the terms of the policy.' The injured party does not have to obtain a judgment against the tortfeasor before litigating the coverage question. Notably, the *Titan* case held that an injured student had standing to challenge whether the school's insurance policy's 'abuse and molestation exclusion' excluded coverage for his claim and whether an additional insurance policy nonetheless covered his claim. 'Neither [the insurer] nor the [school] apparently felt compelled to seek resolution of the issue, so it was incumbent upon [the student] to pursue the matter.'

Maryland Cas. Co. v. Nestle, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98053 at *9-10 (S.D. Miss. Sept.

17, 2010) (internal citations omitted).

Additionally, courts, when directly confronted with the issue of whether the injured person is a proper party to a declaratory judgment action determining coverage between an insurer and the insured tortfeasor, have permitted such participation.

Sagamore Ins. V. Deming, 2008 Conn. Super. LEXIS 2050, 13-15 (Conn. Super. Ct. Aug. 6,

2008).

If there is no litigation between the insurance carrier and the insured, as here, the only protection available to the claimant may be the filing a declaratory action himself.

Here, the damage Dial sustained to its property as a result of Eagle's actions provided Dial with standing to bring suit for declaratory relief against Marine. The actual controversy stemmed from the coverage afforded under the insurance policy Marine provided to Eagle. Looking at the facts alleged in the complaint for declaratory judgment, it can be seen that the issues in the complaint are not substantially the same as those in the underlying suit. It is really not contested that Eagle negligently damaged Dial's blowmolding machine. The only issues in the declaratory action are whether Eagle was using a covered vehicle and whether Dial filed this declaratory action in a timely manner. Consequently, collateral estoppel is not a concern. Therefore, we hold that, as the injured party, Dial had sufficient standing to enable it to bring a declaratory judgment action and to litigate the question of coverage under the insurance policy.

Dial Corp. v. Marine Office of Am. Corp., 743 N.E.2d 621, 627- (Ill. Ct. App. 2001).

In our estimation, however, the fact that this is 'consumer' legislation does not prohibit an automobile passenger, whose only connection to the automobile in which he was injured and the insurance policy thereon is his status as a passenger, from having standing to bring a declaratory judgment action against the automobile owner's insurance company for its alleged violation of section 143a-2(3) of the Code. As the Cloninger court pointed out, injured parties should be adequately compensated and should have recourse when they are not.

... Defendant finally argues that to allow standing to a passenger of an automobile in a declaratory judgment action against an insurance company with whom the passenger had no dealings would allow lawsuits to be filed on the basis of total speculation and for that reason should not be allowed. In our estimation, such a fear does not justify denying plaintiff the opportunity to proceed.

Monroe v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 603 N.E.2d 855, 858-59 (Ill. Ct. App.

1992). While these decision are not binding on the Court, they were all decided under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act. The Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act was designed to "make uniform the law of those states which enact it and to harmonize as far as possible with federal law and regulations on the subject" and thus, "decisions of the highest courts of other states under a like act are precedents by which the court is more or less imperatively bound." 22A Am. Jur.2d *Declaratory Judgments* § 8 (2003).

III. THE DIRECT ACTION RULE DOES NOT PROHIBIT A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION

GEICO's sole argument to the trial court was that Brooksby's Complaint constitutes an impermissible third-party direct action. (R. at 8.) However, an injured party has standing to

bring a declaratory judgment action against a tortfeasor's insurer despite the fact that the injured party cannot maintain a direct action against the insurer. A declaratory judgment action seeking to resolve a coverage dispute is not a direct action. *See, e.g., Christian v. Sizemore*, 383 S.E.2d 810 (W. Va. 1989).

A third-party direct action is one in which an injured party is seeking to recover the proceeds of an insurance policy belonging to a tortfeasor. *See, e.g.*, 46A C.J.S. *Insurance* § 1407 (1993); *Robinson v. Cabell Huntingon Hosp.*, 498 S.E.2d 27, 31-32 (W. Va. 1997) ("As a general rule in the absence of policy or statutory provisions to the contrary, one who suffers injury which comes within the provisions of a liability insurance policy is not in privity of contract with the insurance company, and cannot reach the proceeds of the policy for the payment of his claim by an action directly against the insurance company.").

Justice Richard Posner writing for the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit distinguished a direct action from a declaratory judgment action and ruled on the issue of standing in the following manner:

This shows that the victim of an insured's tort, even though he is not a third-party beneficiary of his injurer's insurance policy, has a legally protectable interest in that policy before he has reduced his tort claim to judgment (but only after he has been injured). Such an interest is all one needs to bring a dispute that seriously threatens it within the scope of Article III.

This conclusion is not inconsistent with the refusal of most states to permit the victim of an insured injurer to sue the injurer's liability insurer directly. The reason for that refusal, a reason wholly unengaged by a case such as this, is to protect the insurance company from the hostility of juries. Anyway Bankers Trust is not suing Old Republic to establish that LKA committed a tort against Bankers Trust, but only to establish that Old Republic's insurance policy remains in force up to the policy limits. Such a suit is not a direct action suit against an insurer. Bankers Trust Co. v. Old Republic Ins. Co., 959 F.2d 677, 682 (7th Cir. 1992) (internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

State courts have reached the same result. Iowa has a prohibition of direct actions by an injured party against a tortfeasor's insurer with the very limited exemption of when the injured party obtains a judgment against the insured and attempted execution of that judgment against the insured is returned unsatisfied. *See*, Iowa Code § 516.1. In *Unitca Mut. Ins. Co. v. Winmill Int'l*, Inc., 50 F. Supp.2d 871 (N.D. Iowa 1999), the injured party filed a counterclaim in a declaratory judgment action brought by the insurer against the injured party. *Id.* at 872. The insurer moved to dismiss the counterclaim under Rule 12(b)(6) because of the bar on third-party direct actions and the injured party did not qualify for the limited exception to the bar because the injured party had not had execution of a judgment returned unsatisfied or had even obtained a judgment against the insured. *Id.* at 874. The court nevertheless permitted the counterclaim to go forward explaining that a direct action is distinguishable from a declaratory judgment action:

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