Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-26-2011

Brooksby v. Geico General Insurance Co Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38761

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Brooksby's action, as framed in her Complaint, is barred by Idaho's long-established prohibition on third-party direct actions by a non-insured against an insurer. This principle is grounded in this Court's recognition that "[t]he basis of the no-direct-action rule is that the person allegedly injured by the insured is not a party to the insurance contract and has no rights under it. 'Insurance policies are a matter of contract between the insurer and the insured.'" Hartman v. United Heritage Property and Cas. Co., 141 Idaho 193, 199, 108 P.3d 340, 346 (2005). Further, Idaho has not recognized any exception to this rule for declaratory actions by non-insureds, nor does the recent amendment to I.R.C.P. 57 create any right of a non-insured to seek declaratory relief. In the present matter, Brooksby's Complaint makes no contention that

she has a contractual relationship with GEICO, and only seeks declaratory rulings as to what Craig Brooksby's contract with GEICO might require.

Further, Brooksby's reliance on out-of-state authority is unhelpful. All of the jurisdictions identified provide some right to judgment creditors to initiate a direct action against a tortfeasor's insurer, either by way of statute or common law recognition. Idaho has no direct action statute, and this Court has not permitted judgment creditors to pursue direct actions against insurers. Hartman, 141 Idaho at 345 ("We have never held that an insured's judgment creditor has a direct action against the insurer. ... We have previously held, 'A third party may not directly sue an insurance company in an attempt to obtain the coverage allegedly due the insurer's policyholder.'"). In Brooksby's case, however, the Complaint fails to make any allegation that she is a judgment creditor, and otherwise fails to identify what statute, common law, or contractual provision she asserts gives her standing to seek a direct action against GEICO.

Nor does public policy dictate a different result. To the contrary, Idaho has a stated public policy that prevents invasion of the insurer-insured contractual relationship by outsiders, and this Court has also indicated its reluctance to allow declaratory actions that do not serve a "useful purpose." Even were this Court to abandon its long-standing prohibition on direct actions, Brooksby's action would serve no "useful purpose," given, again, Brooksby's Complaint fails to make any allegation that she is a judgment creditor, and otherwise fails to identify what statute, common law, or contractual provision she asserts gives her standing to seek a direct action against GEICO even were she to hold a judgment against Craig Brooksby.

Finally, Brooksby's argument that the District Court erred in utilizing I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) in dismissing her suit against GEICO fails. The District Court's cited authority does, in fact, illustrate the necessary showing to survive a standing challenge, which showing Brooksby did not make. Further, the District Court did not look beyond the pleadings in reaching its decision, as the District Court was actually noting the lack of necessary allegations by Brooksby required to survive a standing challenge.

For these reasons, the judgment of the District Court, dismissing Brooksby's action against GEICO, should be <u>affirmed.</u>

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As recently summarized by this Court:

"[A] district court's dismissal of a complaint under <u>I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6)</u> shall be reviewed de novo." <u>Taylor v. McNichols</u>, 149 Idaho 826, 832, 243 P.3d 642, 648 (2010). The Court on appeal must determine "whether the non-movant has alleged sufficient facts in support of his claim, which if true, would entitle him to relief." <u>Orrock v. Appleton</u>, 147 Idaho 613, 618, 213 P.3d 398, 403 (2009) (quoting <u>Rincover v. Dep't of Fin.</u>, 128 Idaho 653, 656, 917 P.2d 1293, 1296 (1996)). The Court must "draw[] all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party." <u>Taylor v. Maile</u>, 142 Idaho 253, 257, 127 P.3d 156, 160 (2005) (citation omitted). "After drawing all inferences in favor of the non-moving party, the Court then examines whether a claim for relief has been stated." Id.

Hoffer v. City of Boise, 151 Idaho 400, 257 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011). Further, as this Court has explained:

In order to withstand a motion to dismiss, the nonmoving party must allege all essential elements of the claims presented. If the plaintiff can prove no set of facts upon which the court could grant relief, the complaint should be dismissed. See Gardner v. Hollifield, 96 Idaho 609, 611, 533 P.2d 730, 732 (1975).

Johnson v. Boundary School Dist. No. 101, 138 Idaho 331, 334, 63 P.3d 457, 460 (2003). Finally, "[w]here a case has been dismissed because of a lack of standing, this Court must examine whether Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged the requisite elements of standing in their complaint to survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss." Taylor v. Maile, 142 Idaho 253, 257, 127 P.3d 156, 160 (2005)(emphasis added).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Direct Actions Are Not Permitted in Idaho.</u>³

1. <u>Idaho's bar on third-party actions, generally.</u>

In Idaho, third-parties cannot sue an insurance company under an insured's insurance policy. "It is well established that absent a contractual or statutory provision authorizing the action, an insurance carrier cannot be sued directly and cannot be joined as a party defendant." Graham v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co., 138 Idaho 611, 67 P.3d 90, 92 (2003) (quoting Pocatello Indus. Park Co. v. Steel West, Inc., 101 Idaho 783,791, 621 P.2d 399, 407 (1980)). The Idaho Supreme Court has previously held that a third-party cannot maintain a direct action against an insurer on the theory that the plaintiff was a third-party beneficiary under an

³ As noted in GEICO's arguments before the District Court (R. at 11, 28), GEICO assumes that Brooksby is advancing the position that Idaho law applies, as reflected by Brooksby's Idaho law argument in her Complaint (R. at 5, ¶15-16) and Brooksby's failure to identify other salient facts which might be determinative of a choice of law question particularly relating to interpretation of the Complaint, including the residence of Craig Brooksby and the location where the subject vehicle is primarily garaged. Thus, GEICO's arguments are framed under Idaho law, given both the procedural standing requirements under Idaho law, and the absence of sufficient allegations in this 12(b)(6) motion context to establish application of a different state's law at this time. GEICO does not waive any arguments it may have as to the applicable law that may ultimately apply in this action (including, but not limited to, California law), and does not necessarily agree that Idaho law would ultimately govern resolution of this dispute.

insurance policy. <u>Downing v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 107 Idaho 511, 515, 691 P.2d 375, 379 (1984).

The Idaho Supreme Court has also prevented a third-party from joining to the litigation the insurer of a tortfeasor for the insurer's alleged intentional delay of payment of a claim. Hettwer v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho, 118 Idaho 373, 797 P.2d 81 (1990). The plaintiff in Hettwer was injured in an automobile accident by defendant. *Id.* at 373. The plaintiff attempted to join the defendant's insurance company as a defendant, alleging that (1) the insurance company insured the defendant under an automobile liability policy at the time of the accident, (2) the plaintiff had presented claims to the insurance company for payment under the policy, and (3) the insurance company had intentionally and tortiously denied or delayed payment on these claims. *Id.* The Idaho Supreme Court held there was no basis for a third-party claim against the insurance company. *Id.* at 374. Not only did the Idaho Supreme Court affirm the dismissal of the action against the insurance company, but the Court stated, that it found the appeal to be "unreasonable and without foundation." *Id.*

Thus, the law in Idaho as to whether a third-party may bring a cause of action against an insurer has been well settled – in summary, direct actions are not permitted. *See, e.g.,* Pocatello Indus. Park Co. v. Steel West, Inc., 101 Idaho at 791 ("It is well established that absent a contractual or statutory provision authorizing the action, an insurance carrier cannot be sued directly and cannot be joined as a party defendant."); Downing v. Travelers Ins. Co., 107 Idaho at 514-15 ("Appellant should not be allowed to sue the insurance company directly any more than a tort victim injured in an automobile accident should be able to directly sue the insurance

carrier of the tortfeasor without having first proved a claim against the tortfeasor individually."); see also Hartman, 141 Idaho at 199 ("The basis of the no-direct-action rule is that the person allegedly injured by the insured is not a party to the insurance contract and has no rights under it. 'Insurance policies are a matter of contract between the insurer and the insured.'")(quoting Trinity Universal Ins. Co. v. Kirsling, 139 Idaho 89, 92, 73 P.3d 102, 105 (2003)); Stonewall Surplus Lines Insurance v. Farmers Insurance, 132 Idaho 318, 971 P.2d 1142 (1998) ("A third party may not directly sue an insurance company in an attempt to obtain the coverage allegedly due the insurer's policyholder.")

2. Brooksby's action constitutes an improper third-party direct action.

In this case, Brooksby has not alleged that she is directly insured by GEICO under the Policy. (R. at 3-6.) Indeed, her Complaint is expressly framed in the context of her making claim against the policy of a non-party, Craig Brooksby:

6. An actual case and controversy exists between Plaintiff and Defendant with respect to whether the bodily injuries sustained by Christina Brooksby in a motor vehicle accident, which occurred in Bonneville County, are subject to coverage and/or coverage exclusions contained in Craig Brooksby's automobile insurance policy purchased from Defendant.

. . .

- 12. At the time of the subject collision, **Craig Brooksby had an automobile** insurance policy with **Defendant**, which provided liability coverage, among other coverages.
- 13. Plaintiff has made an insurance claim **agasint [sic] Craig Brooksby's policy** for the bodily injuries and other damages she sustained in the subject motor vehicle collision.

(*Id.* at 4-5)(emphases added). Thus, Brooksby's allegations are entirely framed as third-party claims against GEICO, with whom she does not contend she has any policy or contract, and are expressly asserted as against a policy stated to be insuring someone else (Craig Brooksby). Further, Brooksby has failed to allege any statutory, common law, or contractual provision that would authorize her suit against GEICO. Accordingly, the Complaint is defective on its face as violative of Idaho's prohibition on third-party direct actions, and was appropriately dismissed by the District Court.

3. This Court has not permitted injured parties to file declaratory actions against insurers.

Brooksby tries to avoid application of Idaho's rule barring third-party direct actions by bolding asserting as a section heading that "The Idaho Supreme Court Has Allowed Declaratory Judgment Actions by Injured Parties." (Appellant's Brief at 12.) This brash statement, however, is quickly tempered by the immediate acknowledgment, in the following text, that "the Idaho Supreme Court has not explicitly ruled on the issue of whether an injured party has standing to initiate a declaratory judgment action against a tortfeasor's insurer[.]" (*Id.*) Brooksby cites Idaho authority to suggest that such an action is permissible; however, none of these Idaho decisions stand for this proposition and are readily distinguishable.

• Chancler v. American Hardware, 109 Idaho 841, 712 P.2d 542 (1985) involved a declaratory judgment action brought by a policy-holder (Chancler) and an injured party (Christensen) regarding coverage for a product defect claim. This Court ruled upon the coverage issues, not addressing the status of Christensen as

an insured/non-insured under the Policy, which was apparently not raised by the parties. As an initial matter, the matter was appropriately ruled upon by this Court because an insured was, in fact, a plaintiff seeking a declaratory ruling – in this action, however, Craig Brooksby is not a party. Further, that a direct action violation is not raised is not an unknown circumstance to this Court. In Empire Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. North Pacific Ins. Co., 127 Idaho 716, 905 P.2d 1025 (1995), this Court ruled upon a declaratory action filed by one insurer against another insurer – which would constitute a violation of Idaho's direct action rule; however, the violation was not addressed by this Court, having not apparently been raised by the parties. In a subsequent decision involving a declaratory action by two insurers against a third insurer, this Court rejected citation to Empire Fire as allowing direct actions, noting, in relevant part, that "the question whether a direct action by one insurance company against another was permitted was not decided by the Court." Stonewall Surplus Lines, 132 Idaho at 322 n.2.4 Thus, Chancler illustrates a different factual scenario, and the issue of direct action was apparently not raised, thereby rendering citation to Chancler unhelpful.

⁴ Brooksby later argues (Appellant's Brief at 13-14) that courts have a duty to raise standing *sua sponte*, and therefore, any direct action case not dismissed on standing grounds must signal approval of third-party direct actions. This not only disregards the potential that the issue may simply be simply overlooked or the record may lack sufficient information to resolve the issue, but it also improperly attempts to ignore this Court's oft-repeated position that direct actions are not permitted in Idaho.

- Mutual of Enumclaw v. Harvey, 115 Idaho 1009, 772 P.2d 216 (1989) involved a counter-suit by a judgment creditor against an insurer to recover a portion of a judgment. Brooksby's reliance to this authority fails for two reasons. First, Brooksby has not alleged, at any time, that she is a judgment creditor. Second, the Court's approval of standing in Harvey was expressly made upon the fact that the policy at issue itself conferred standing: "Any person or organization or the legal representative thereof who has secured such judgment (a judgment against the Insured after actual trial) ... shall thereafter be entitled to recover under this policy to the extent of the insurance afforded under this policy." *Id.* at 1010. As Brooksby's Complaint lacks any allegation that she is a judgment creditor and that the Policy confers upon her standing as a result of such status (as well as what conditions and limitations would be placed upon such standing), Harvey provides no guidance in this matter, and Brooksby's Complaint is subject to dismissal under I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).
- Doron Precision Sys. v. United States Fid. & Guar Co., 131 Idaho 680, 963 P.2d 363 (1998), withdrawn by 133 Idaho 11, 981 P.2d 246 (1999), is not authority in Idaho. After the initial opinion of this Court was issued, the Court subsequently issued its order withdrawing the Doron opinion: "IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the MOTION TO WITHDRAW COURT'S OPINION be, and hereby is, GRANTED and this Court's Opinion issued June 4, 1998 shall be WITHDRAWN and shall not be cited as authority." 133 Idaho at 12 (bold

- emphasis in original, underline emphasis added).
- Gillingham Constr. Inc. v. Newby-Wiggins Constr. Inc., 142 Idaho 15, 121 P.3d 946 (2005) is apparently cited for its brief discussion of Mutual of Enumclaw v. Pedersen, 133 Idaho 135, 983 P.2d 208 (1990), which actually supports GEICO's position in this litigation. In that matter, a husband, wife, and daughter moved into the husband's father's home. 133 Idaho at 136. While residing there, the husband injured his daughter in a lawnmower accident. Id. at 137. The wife made claim against the husband's father's homeowner's policy. *Id.* The insurer then sought declaratory relief that there was no coverage for the accident, as all parties were "residents" of the "household," and, thus, were all collectively insureds for which claims between them were not covered under a household exclusion. Id. This Court held that the husband, wife, and daughter were, in fact, "insureds" under the terms of the policy based upon their residing at the husband's father's house. *Id.* at 139. Thus, all were appropriately parties to a declaratory action, as the dispute was ultimately between an insurer and "insureds" under the terms of the policy. Additionally, however, note that this Court also briefly rejected, on standing grounds, the wife and daughter's attempts to raise the issues of whether the insurer was obligated to defend and indemnify the husband or the husband's father. Id. ("Furthermore, we hold that Kate and Wendy have no standing to raise the issue of whether Mutual has a duty to indemnify or defend Jeff or John. While Jeff or John could have raised this issue,

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